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MG Shared Services, LLC Doc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

WILLIAM USCHOLD, et al., Case NdlL8-cv-01039-JSC

Plaintiffs,
ORDER RE: AMENDED MOTION FOR
V. PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF
CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT
NSMG SHARED SERVICES, LLC,
Re: Dkt. No. 48

Defendant.

William Uschold and Tyrone Dangerfield filedis state law wage-and-hour action on
behalf of themselves and others similarly situated against their emp8#&4G Shared Services,
LLC (“NSMG” or “Defendant”)! (Dkt. No. 1 at 119 Plaintiffs allege that NSMG violated
California state law in its operation of a comgaion payment system and failed to reimburse
Plaintiffs for reasonable business expensesried while using peomal property for work
purposes. Now before the Court is Plaintiffs’ amended, unopposed motion for preliminary
approval of the parties’ class action settlement agreein@it. No. 48.) After reviewing the
proposed settlement, with the benefit of @aument on October 2, 2019, and upon review of tl
amended proposed Class Notice filed Octd&019, (Dkt. No. 52), thCourt GRANTS the
motion for preliminary approval.

I

! Plaintiffs acknowledge that the complaintogreously named Defendant as Northstar Memoria
Group; Northstar Memorial Grouplda Chapel of the Chimes; Chapel of the Chimes; and NS
Shared Services, LLC d/b/a NorthisMemorial Group Shared Seres. (Dkt. No. 48 at 8.) The
Court recaptioned the case accordingly.

2 Record citations are to materialthe Electronic Case File (“ECE’pinpoint citdions are to the
ECF-generated page numbershat top of the documents.

3 All parties have consentedttee jurisdiction of a magistrajadge pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
636(c). (Dkt. Nos. 9 & 16.)
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BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs filed this action in the Superi@ourt of California fothe County of Alameda on
January 17, 2018, asserting five claims for rel(i&f:unlawful collection of wages earned in
violation of California Labor Code § 221; (2) utiaorized deductions imiolation of California
Labor Code § 224; (3) failure to reimburse fdmacessary and reasonable business expenses
violation of California Labor Code § 2802; (4)ltae to pay wages in violation of California
Labor Code § 510 et seq.; and (5) violation of California Business & Professions Code § 172
(Dkt. No. 1, Ex. A.) Defendant answere@ ttomplaint on February 15, 2018 and removed the
case to this District on Februaty, 2018. (Dkt. No. 1 at 1.)

The parties participated in private megtbn on October 24, 2018 @ February 5, 2019 but
were unable to reach a settlement agreement.. Nkt48-2 at {1 3, 11.) €lparties continued to
negotiate, however, and on March 8, 2019, Plairfii#g a Notice of Settlement. (Dkt. No. 36.)
The terms of the settlement agreement are memathiizthe parties’ Joint Stipulation of Class
Settlement and Release (the “Settlement Agreemerg§gel¥kt. No. 48-2, Ex. A.)

l. The Parties

NSMG is a limited liability corporation ganized under Delaware law; the company
maintains its principal place of business in Houston Texas. (Dkt. No. 4 at 11 3-4.) “NSMG
employs individuals who provide funeral and lalirelated services thughout the Bay Area.”
(Dkt. No. 24 at 2.) Plaintiffs are former 8&rea employees of NSMG who worked for the
company in 2017. (Dkt. No. 1, Ex. Aat{7.)

Il. Complaint Allegations*
Defendant paid Plaintiffs using a “consaion payment system,” whereby the company

advanced commission to Plaintiff@]n a weekly basis.” Ifl. at  2.) Plaintiffs were required to

4 The Settlement Agreement provides that ‘I[fwing execution of th&ettlement Agreement,
Class Counsel shall file the Fissinended Complaint, . . . by stipulat of the parties.” (Dkt. No.
48-2, Ex. A at 1 33.) The Settlement Agreemmealudes the First Amended Complaint as an
exhibit. SeeDkt. No. 48-2, Ex. Bsee alsdkt. No. 36 at 1-2 (“Plaitiffs intend to provide an
Amended Complaint as part of the procességuesting the Court’s preliminary and final
approval of the class settlement.”).) The i@ complaint remains the operative complaint
before the Court, however, until Plaintifiee the First Amended Complaint.
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meet the sales quota set by Defendant eaetk We actually earn the commission.ld( If
Plaintiffs did not meet the quota, Defendamud “recoup or ‘chargeback’ the commission each

week.” (d.) As explained by Plaintiffs:

The chargebacks are cumulative so that an Employee may still owe a
chargeback on a week he did edh®& commission. Yet, if an
Employee exceeds the quota, his esceommission or points are
neither paid nor accumulated to offfetiure weeks. Defendant| ] set

the quota based on a 40-hour work week regardless of whether an
Employee actually works 40 hours in a week.

(Dkt. No. 1, Ex. A at 1 2.) Plaintiffs did not kwdhe terms of the commission payment system
how it operated “until several months into employmentd.) (Defendant’s operation of the
commission payment system “violated numerbabor Code provisions” because Defendant
failed to obtain “express authorization from [@loyees” regarding its usand the system resulted
in “unlawful deductions oéarned commissions."1d()

Defendant also knew or required thatatsployees “use[ ] personal property for work

including personal vehicles for travel to meethvelients and prospective clients and personal ce

phones for business calls.ld() Defendant did not, howevérgimburse all necessary and
reasonable business expenseseqgsired by California law.” 1¢.)

In addition to violating the California Labor Code, Defendant’s acts “constitute unlawfy
and unfair business practices in violation of California Unfair Competition Laws” (“UCL”"),
California Business & Professions Code 8§ 17200.) (Plaintiffs “seek unpaid wages,
reimbursement for necessary and reasonable drssexpenses, statutory penalties, injunctive
relief, attorneys’ fees and casprejudgment interest, andhet relief the [Clourt may deem
appropriate.” Id. at 7 3.)

lll.  Settlement Agreement
A. ProposedClass
The proposed class consists of “all employgsad commissions by Defendant . . . at any

time from January 17, 2014 through the dztBreliminary Approval of Settlement.”(Dkt. No.

5 Plaintiff's counsel Allyssa Villanueva’s declaiat in support of the instant motion attests that
“the putative class size [is] at le@9 persons.” (DkiNo. 48-2 at § 20.)

3
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48-2, Ex. A at 1 10.) The parties “conditionadlypulate and agree that the requisites for
establishing class certification .. have been met, . . . for purposes of effectuating th[e] Settlem
Agreement.” [d. at § 34.)

B. Proposed Operative Comfaint for Settlement Purposes

Defendant consents to Plaintiffs filing a First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) adding Tian
Naples and Jose Almendarez amed plaintiffs. (Dkt. No. 48-Zx. A at 1 33.) The FAC also
adds new factual allegations and additional claimas will be settled and released through the
Settlement Agreementld( at 1 19, 33.) In total the proged FAC alleges claims for: (1)
Unlawful Collection of Wages Earned, Cal. L&nde § 221, (2) Unauthorized Deduction, Cal.
Lab. Code § 224; (3) Failure to ReimburseNacessary and Reasonable Business Expenditure
Cal. Lab. Code § 2802; (4) Failure to Paygdfs, Cal. Lab. Code 88 510, 1174, (5) Breach of
Contract; (6) Fraud — Intentional Misrepresentation; (7) Frabdlse Promise; (8) Failure to Pay
Minimum Wages, Cal. Lab. Code 88 1194, 1197; (SluFato Provide MeaPeriods, Cal. Lab.
Code 88 226.7, 512, 1198; (10) FailtoeProvide Rest Periods, Cal. Lab. Code 88 226.7, 1198
and applicable Wage Orders; (11) Failure tovitle Accurate Wage Stanents, Cal. Lab. Code
88§ 226, 226.3; (12) Failure to Timely Pay Waged, Cab. Code § 204; (13) Failure to Timely
Pay All Final Wages, Cal. Lab. Code 8§ 201-2Q3) violation of the UCL, Cal. Business &
Professions Code § 17200; and (¥®)ation of the Private iorneys General Act (“PAGA”),
Cal. Lab. Code § 2698 et sedd.(at  19see alsdkt. No. 48-2, Ex. B at 54-55.)

C. PaymentTerms

Defendant agrees to pay $2.2 million (“GsdSettlement Amount”) to the Settlement

Administrator, who will deposit &t amount in a qualified settlemtefund. (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A

%)
>
—

a

S,

at 11 37-40.) The following will be deducted from the Gross Settlement Amount: (1) payment of

$33,000 to the Labor Workforce Development Agetacgettle the PAGA claim asserted in the
FAC; (2) the Settlement Administrator’s feasd costs, not exceeding $9,000.00; (3) Plaintiffs’
attorneys’ fees (not exceeding $736,200.00 (representing onesthire Gross Settlement

Amount)) and costs (not exceeding $20,000.00); (4) ébaant’s estimated share of applicable

payroll taxes to be paid onghindividual settlement paymentsind (5) “Service Awards” of
4
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$2,000.00 to each of the four named Plaintiffthim FAC. (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at 1 41, 53, 54,
60, 68.) The remainder following those deiituts (approximately $1,417,400.00) constitutes th
“Net Settlement Amount” from which individualass members will be paid (“Class Settlement
Payments”). Id. at 1 41-42.)
1. Class Settlement Payments
The individual Class Settlement Paymentsclass members that do not opt out will be

calculated as follows:

(a) Each Class Member’'s “Totahdividual Workweeks” will be
determined on a pro-rata basis determined by the number of
workweeks each Class Member workethe state of California from
January 17, 2014 through the datepoéliminary approval of the
settlement.

(b) The Total Individual Workweekfor each Class Member will be
aggregated to determine the “Total Class Gross Workweeks.”

(c) The estimated Individual Settlement Payment for each Class
Member set forth in the Class Notiedl be based on(a) each Class
Member’s Total Individual Workeeks; (b) divided by the aggregate

number of Total Class Gross War&eks of all Class Members; (c)
multiplied by the value of the Net Settlement Amount.

(Id. at  42(a)-(c).) In other words, each clasnber will receive a pro-rata share of the Net
Settlement Amount based on the number of weeks the individual worked compared to the nu
of weeks worked by all class members. A classber has sixty days “tdispute the information
on the Notice, including his or hé&otal Individual Compensation.”ld. at 1 47.)

One-third of each Class Settlement Paymentaeatied to wages, which are “subject to a
applicable wage laws, including federal, state local tax withholdingnd payroll taxes, and
shall be reported on Form W-2.1d( at { 49;see alsdkt. No. 52 at 5 (YIRS W2 Forms will be
issued to Class Members for the payments akbacto payment of wages.”).) The Settlement
Administrator will issue the wageayments and calculate andhtibld “all required federal, state

and local taxes.” (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at § 49he remaining portion of each Class Settlemen

® According to the Settlement Agreement, §efh Class Member’s Total Individual Workweeks
will be determined by reference to [Defendant&jards, subject to each Class Member’s right t
submit evidence in support of disputed claim@®kt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at § 42(c).)
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Payment is divided evenly—one-thiatlocated to interest and ottard allocated to penalties
“and other non-wage damages sought in thgoAc¢' (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at 1 49.) Those
payments “will not have withholdings deductetistead, “IRS 1099 Forms will be issued” to
class members. (Dkt. No. 52 at 5.) Class memasx ultimately “respondifor the appropriate
payment of any federal, staaad/or local income or paylidaxes on the Class Settlement
Payments they receive and egito indemnify and hold harmleSsfendant for any tax liability
arising out of or relating to” elass member’s “failure to pdgixes on any amounts paid pursuant

to [the] Settlement Agreement.” (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at 1 50.)

The Settlement Administrator will mail Class Settlement Payments by check to individual

class members within ten days of the “Effective Datgld. at  43.) The face of each check will
state that it “must be cashed or deposited with80 days, and all payments will include a cover
letter stating the sameld() If a class member does not cash or deposit his or her check withir
120 days of mailing, the Settlement Administratall notify the class member by letter or
postcard that the check will expire and becomd ifat is not “cashed odeposited within the
remaining two months.” (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. Afad4.) No later thaB0 days after the 180-day
period has passed, Plaintiffs’ counsel “will regorthe Court the total amount” paid to class
members and any amount remaining in the qualified settlement flchdat { 63.) The remaining
amount will be distributedy presas follows: fifty percent tethe charitable organization
“Foundation for Advocacy Inclusion and Resources”; twenty-five percent to the California Stg
Treasury “for deposit in the Trial Court Imprewent and Modernization Fund”; and twenty-five
percent “to the State Treasury fiteposit into the Equal Accesarid of the Judicial Branch.”
(Id.) No settlement funds will revert to Defendand. at 1 37.)

The parties’ motion for final approvahsuld provide more information about these

potentialcy presrecipients and their relationship to the issues in this lawsuit, as well as any

" The Settlement Agreement defines “Effectivaedas the later of: “(i) March 31, 2019, (i)
sixty-five (65) calendar days aftthe entry of the FinaApproval Order(s) if no appeal or motion
to set aside and vacate judgmerfilesd, or (iii) ten (10) businessays after the final resolution of
appeal or motion to set aside and vacate judgrhany such motion or appeal is filed and
unsuccessful.” (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at { 14.)

6
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relationship to counselSeeN.D. Cal.Procedural Guidance for Class Action Settlemé&n®& The
motion for final approval should algxplain why any uncashed amounts shadtbe provided
to the State of California as unclaimgperty rather than distributed to ttyepresrecipients or
whether the parties have agrebdt the amounts of uncashed cleclin be provided to the State
of California as unclaimed property.
D. Release

Class members, including named Plaintiffs, agree to release Defefidanall claims,
whether state or federal, angiat any point during &éh“Settlement Period” (defined as January
17, 2014 through the date of preliminary approval) #hatasserted in the FAC or could have bes
asserted based on the same nucleus of operative faets.id@at 11 13, 96-100.) In addition, the
named Plaintiffs agree to a release of allafafthat were or coulave been asserted by
Plaintiffs which arise out of or relate in anyya their employment with NSMG,” and a general
release of all claims (“to the lfast extent they may be releasswtler applicable law”) that arise
“prior to the last day othe Settlement Period.”ld, at [ 101-02.) Toffectuate the general
release, “Plaintiffs expressly waive and relinquadiirights and benefittinder] California Civil
Code section 1542.”Id. at 1 103.)

E. Notice

Within 20 days of preliminary approval:

Defendant shall provide the Settlement Administrator an electronic
file(s) containing the following information for each Class Member:
(1) full name; (2) last-known addreg8) social security number (if
known); and (4) the gross individuworkweeks from January 17,
2014 through the date of prelimiyaapproval for work done as a
commissioned sales employedlwe state of California.

(Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at 1 69.) No later thandiys after preliminargpproval, the Settlement

8 The “Released Parties” covered under thdé&rént Agreement include: “Defendant and its
affiliates, parent company, and subsidiariesl @ach of their respecé\affiliates, parent
companies, subsidiaries, related entitiescef, directors, members, partners, owners,
shareholders, employees, former employees tagservants, attorneyassigns, independent

contractors, volunteers, predecesssuccessors, and organizationsurers, and any and all other

persons, firms and corporations in which Defendaunts affiliates may have an interest.” (Dkt.
No. 48-2, Ex. A at 1 12.)

7
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Administrator must mail the notice of settlemgiNotice”) to class members “by United States
first class mail, postage prepaid.id.(at § 71.)

The Notice includes, in pertinepart: a description of thevsuit including an overview of
the allegations and claims; cant information for Plaintiffscounsel and the Settlement

Administrator; a summary of the settlemantount, its distributin, and the methodology for

calculating the individual Class Settlement Paymenid;the release of claims. (Dkt. No. 52 at 1

8.) The Notice also informs class memberthefr “Rights and Options”; specifically: (1)
participate in the settlement biping nothing and automaticaltgceiving a Class Settlement
Payment; or (2) opt-out by mailing a written asighed “Exclusion Request” to the Settlement
Administrator within 60 days of the mailing thfe Notice; or (3) object to the settlement by
mailing a “Notice of Objection” to the Court thin 60 days of the mailing of the Noticdd.(at 7-
8.) Plaintiffs are further notified that theyay attend the final approval hearing (date to be
determined by the Court) in person or througlatarney but are noequired to do so.Ild. at 7.)

DISCUSSION

A class action settlement must be fair, adégjuand reasonable. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(2).

Where, as here, parties reach an agreementebelss certification, “courts must peruse the
proposed compromise to ratify both the proprigtyhe certification and the fairness of the
settlement.” Staton v. Boeing Cp327 F.3d 938, 952 (9th Cir. 2003). If the court preliminarily
certifies the class and finds thettlement appropriatgter “a preliminay fairness evaluation,”
then the class will be notified, and a final fairneearing scheduled to determine if the settleme
is fair, adequate, and remmable pursuant to Rule 2¥illegas v. J.P. Morgan Chase & Gdo.

CV 09-00261 SBA (EMC), 2012 WL 5878390, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 21, 2012).

l. Conditional Certificatio n of the Settlement Class

Class actions must meet the follogirequirements for certification:

(1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable; (2) there are questiasfslaw or fact common to the
class; (3) the claims or defenses of the representative parties are
typical of the claims or defeas of the class; and (4) the
representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests
of the class.
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Fed R. Civ. P. 23(a). In additiaa meeting the requirements of Rule 23(a), a putative class action

must also meet one of the conditions outlineRute 23(b)—as relevahiere, the condition that
“questions of law or fact common to class memnskpredominate over anyestions affecting only
individual members, and that ask action is superior to othearailable methods for fairly and
efficiently adjudicating the controx®&y.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)Prior to certifying the class,
the Court must determine that Plaintiffs havies§iad their burden oflemonstrating that the
proposed class satisfies each element of Rule 23.

A. Rule 23(a)

The Rule 23(a) factors are satisfied. Fifte putative class se [is] at least 429
persons.” $eeDkt. Nos. 1 at 5 & 48-2 at 1 20.).) &lCourt is thus satied that the class
satisfies the numerosity requirement.

Second, the commonality requirement is sa&ishiecause there are common questions of
law and fact arising out of thedlegedly unlawful commission paynt system Defendant used to

compensate all putative class members and Deffi¢sdaleged failure to reimburse its employee

U7

for reasonable and necessary business expenditbeesBellinghausen v. Tractor Supply G383
F.R.D. 611, 617 (N.D. Cal. 2013) (finding commbityarequirement satisfied where class
members were subject to the same challepgéidies and procedures)Yhird, the typicality
requirement is similarly satisfied because Plaintiffs’ claims challenge a course of conduct that
applied to all class membersicathus, all class members suffetkd same or similar injurySee
Hanon v. Dataproducts Corp76 F.2d 497, 508 (9th Cir. 1992){fe test of typicality is
whether other members have the same or gsimijary, whether the action is based on conduct
which is not unique to the named plaintiffs, avitether other class members have been injured|by
the same course of conduct$ge also BellinghauseB03 F.R.D. at 617 (finding the typicality
requirement satisfied because the named plainti#da[d] that he, like the other class members
worked for [d]efendant in California during tokass period and was subject to the same wage-
and-hour policies and proceduresssue in [the] litigation”).

Finally, the named Plaintiffsnd class counsel appear to be@uhate representatives of the

class. The named Plaintiffs were employed by Defendant during tlsepelasd and allegedly
9
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injured by the same course of conduct common to all class members; thus, Plaintiffs’ interes
this litigation is aligned with that of the clasSee Amchem Prods., Inc. v. Wind&#1 U.S. 591,
594-95 (1997) (“Representatives must be pathefclass and possess the same interest and su
the same injury as the class they seek to repr&seRlaintiffs’ counsel has experience litigating
labor and employment actioremd although they “have not preusly been appointed class
counsel for plaintiff class actiamatters,” counsel is currentlyrseng as “lead trial counsel” in
“three other employment law claastions (two in federal court amche in state court).” (Dkt. No.
48-1 at 1 10-13, 14ee alsdkt. No. 48-2 at 1 23ee Bellinghauser803 F.R.D. at 617 (noting
that “class counsel must be qualified, experienced, and generally @blediact the class action
litigation”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

B. Rule 23(b)(3)

As previously discussed, Rule 23(b)(3yuees establishing the predominance of commg
guestions of law or fact and teaperiority of a class action rekaito other available methods for
the fair and efficient adjudication of the cmuersy. Rule 23(b)(3hcludes the following

nonexhaustive list of factors pment to the preasiminance and superiority analysis:

(A) the class members’ interesin individually controlling the
prosecution or defense of separations; (B) the extent and nature
of any litigation concerning the controversy already begun by or
against class members; (C) the desirability or undesirability of
concentrating the litigation of theadins in the particular forum; and
(D) the likely difficulties in managing a class action.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b).

The Court concludes that there are nalpmeinance or superiority concerns because the
challenged policies are common to all class members.

1. Predominance

Rule 23(b)(3) first requires “predominanaecommon questionsver individual ones”
such that “the adjudication of common isswvill help achieve judicial economyYalentino v.
Carter-Wallace, InG.97 F.3d 1227, 1234 (9th Cir. 1996)his “inquiry focuses on the
relationship between the command individual issues.Vinole v. Countrywide Home Loans,

Inc., 571 F.3d 935, 944 (9th Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). In
10
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particular, the predominance requirement “testetivr proposed classes are sufficiently cohesi
to warrant adjudication by representatioinchem Prods521 U.S. at 594. When common
guestions “present a significanfpast of the case [that] can tesolved for all members of the
class with a single adjudicatiortfiere is justificatiorior “handling the dispute on representative
rather than on an individual basidDelagarza v. Tesoro Ref. & Mktg. Cdlo. C-09-5803 EMC,
2011 WL 4017967, at *10 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 8, 20(@id)ernal quotation marks and citation
omitted).

The Court is satisfied that the core coomguestions in this case—the lawfulness of
Defendants’ policies and practices relatedgs@ommission payment system and reimbursemen
of reasonable business expenses—predominateanyetifferences regarding its implementation
of those policies with respect to individual employees. Accordingly, the Court concludes that
common questions of law and fact predominate.

2. Superiority

A class action is a superioreians of adjudicating a disputevlhere classwide litigation of
common issues will reduce litigation cestnd promote greater efficiencyWalenting 97 F.3d at
1234. In evaluating superiority, “ads consider the interest§the individual members in
controlling their own litigation, thdesirability of concentrating the litigation in the particular
forum, and the manageability of the class actiddunt v. Check Recovery Sys., Jig11 F.R.D.
505, 514 (N.D. Cal. 2007imodified 2007 WL 2220972 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 1, 200&jf'd sub nom.
Hunt v. Imperial Merch. Servs., In&60 F.3d 1137 (9th Cir. 2009). ddass action is superior to
individual litigation in thismatter for several reasons.

First, there is no indication that membersha proposed class hasestrong interest in
individual litigation or an inentive to pursue their claims individually, given the amount of
damages likely to be recovered relative torésources required to prosecute such an actee.
Chavez v. Blue Sky Nat. Beverage, @68 F.R.D. 365, 379 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (evaluating
superiority under Rule 23(b)(3nd noting that “the class amti is superior to maintaining
individual claims for a small amount of damages®e also Gentry v. Superior Co#2 Cal. 4th

443, 457 (2007) (noting that “individual awaidsvage-and-hour cases tend to be modest”),
11
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abrogation on other grounds recognizedVilliams v. Superior Cour3 Cal. 5th 531, 558
(2017). Second, any concerns over manageabilityeo€lass action in this case would not weigh
in favor of individual litigaton given that Defendant’s liab§ito “class members depends on

common proof” regarding its commission payment system and expense reimbursement polig

See Bowerman v. Field Asset Servs., 42 F. Supp. 3d 910, 936 (N.D. Cal. 2017) (recognizing

as legitimate the defendant’s “apprehension regarding manageability,” but finding it “insuffici¢
to tip the scales away from the superiority adqaeding as a class whehdtdefendant’s] liability
to over 100 class members depends on common proeitiplly, class actions are preferred in
wage-and-hour actions when individual employeeg foego pursuing their claims due to fear of
retaliation. See Williams3 Cal. 5th at 558 (noting that feafrretaliation cuts in favor of
“facilitating collective action so that individuamployees need not rtime risk of individual
suits”).

Accordingly, the Court concludes thaindlitional class certifiation for settlement
purposes is proper.
I. Preliminary Approval of the Settlement

In determining whether a settlement agreensefair, adequate, and reasonable to all

concerned, courts generally cates the following factors:

(1) the strength of the plaintif’ case; (2) the risk, expense,
complexity, and likely duration of fther litigation; (3) the risk of
maintaining class action statugdbghout the trial; (4) the amount
offered in settlement; (5) the extent of discovery completed and the
stage of the proceedings; (6) the experience and views of counsel; (7)
the presence of a governmental participant; and (8) the reaction of the
class members of the proposed settlement.

In re Bluetooth Headset Prods. Liab. Liti§54 F.3d 935, 946 (9th Cir. 2011) (quoti@gurchill
Vill.,, LLC v. Gen. Ele¢.361 F.3d 566, 575 (9th Cir. 2004)). However, when “a settlement
agreement is negotiated prior torf@l class certificatin, consideration of these eight . . . factors
alone is” insufficient.ld. In such cases, courts must notyordnsider the abovactors, but also
ensure that the settlement did nauié from collusion among the partielsl. at 947. Because
collusion “may not always be evident on the faca eé&ttlement, . . . [couftewust be particularly

vigilant not only for explicit collgion, but also for more subtggns that class counsel have
12
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allowed pursuit of their own seiifiterests and that of certattass members to infect the

negotiations.”ld. In Bluetooth the court identified three such signs:

(1) when counsel receive a disportionate distbution of the
settlement, or when the class receives no monetary distribution but
class counsel are amply rewarded;

(2) when the parties negotiate a ‘alsailing” arrangement providing

for the payment of attoays’ fees separate and apart from class funds,
which carries the potential of &bling a defendant to pay class
counsel excessive fees and cosedichange for counsel accepting an
unfair settlement on belaf the class; and

(3) when the parties arrange féees not awarded to revert to
defendants rather than bdded to the class fund.

Id. (internal quotation markand citations omitted).

The Court cannot, however, fully assess suctofa until after the fial approval hearing;
thus, “a full fairness analysis ismnecessary at this stagélberto v. GMRI, InG.252 F.R.D. 652,
665 (E.D. Cal. 2008) (internal quotation marks aitation omitted). At the preliminary approval
stage, “the settlement need only be potentially faftcbsta v. Trans Union, LL @243 F.R.D. 377,
386 (C.D. Cal. May 31, 2007). Preliminary apprasahus appropriaté “the proposed
settlement appears to be the product obseriinformed, noncollusive negotiations, has no
obvious deficiencies, does not improperly grantgneitial treatment to @bs representatives or
segments of the class, and falls witthe range of possible approvalri re Tableware Antitrust
Litig., 484 F. Supp. 2d 1078, 1079 (N.D. Cal. 2007) (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted).

A. The Fairness Factors

1. SettlementProcess

The first factor concerns “the means byietthe parties arrivcbat settlement."Harris v.
Vector Mktg. Corp.No. C-08-5198 EMC, 2011 WL 1627973, at *8 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 29, 2011).
To approve a proposed settlement, a court musatsfied that the parties “have engaged in
sufficient investigation of the facte enable the court to intelligenttgake . . . an appraisal of the
settlement.” Acosta 243 F.R.D. at 396. Courts thus hdaa obligation to evalate the scope and

effectiveness of the investigation plaintiffgunsel conducted prior toaehing an agreement.”
13
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In support of the instant motion, Plaintiffdosnit the declaration of their counsel, Allyssa
Villanueva. GeeDkt. No. 48-2.) Ms. Villanueva attestsatithe parties engaged in two rounds o
private mediation with an experienced medigoor to the settlement agreement, and “conducte
discovery in advance of both mediationsld. @t  3.) After the “[t]hdirst day of mediation was
unsuccessful,” the parties “conduttadditional discovery, includingours of informal interviews
of the named Plaintiffs, a key defense witnegh wirect knowledge athe facts relating to
Plaintiffs’ allegations, [ad] non-party witnesses.”(Id. at 11 3-4.) The parties continued
negotiating after the last mediation in Febru2®y 9, and Plaintiffs filed the Notice of Settlement
a month later. I¢l. at 1 11, 16, 18.) Ms. Villanueva attesttat “[a]t all times, the [p]arties
remained adverse, their negotaus were non-collusive, and at asntength.” (Dkt. No. 48-2 at
17.)

The use of an experienced private mexiand presence of discovery supports the
conclusion that Plaintiffs were “armed with suféot information about thease” to broker a fair
settlement.See Acosta?43 F.R.D. at 39Gee also/illegas 2012 WL 5878390, at *6 (finding
two sessions of private mediation before an egpeed mediator, which were “informed by . . .
discovery,” sufficient to “support ehconclusion that the [p]laintiff was appropriately informed in
negotiating a settlement”). Further, since Def@nt removed this case to federal court in
February 2018, the parties have drafted tjog® case management conference statemesas, (
Dkt. Nos. 24, 30, 32), and participated in two case management conferences before the
undersigned,geeDkt. Nos. 26 & 33). The Settlement Agreement states that the parties “analy

the exchanged discovery and data to assess potattibty and damages, as well the strength of

% With respect to the spe of discovery, the Settlement &gment asserts: “Defendant produced
over 500 pages of documents. [Defendant’sfipction included anonymized class-wide data
reflecting training, signed commission agreemesitmed sales policies, and business expense
reimbursement information, for all class membersnduthe class periodi-or a sample of class
members, including Plaintiffs, [Defendantsalproduced detailed personnel records and
commissions statements reflegiihow commissions were calculated. Additionally, [Defendant
produced information and documents reflectogpany policies and practices. Defendant’s
Counsel interviewed each of the Plaintiffs ie iresence of Class Counsel.” (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex
Aatf22)

14
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their claims and likelihod of success on motions for class certification and summary judgment.”

(Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at 1 23.) There is thus no @adiion that Plaintiffs rushed into settlement ot
were otherwise ill-informed about the casel @ould not “reasonably sesss its strengths and
value.” See Acosta243 F.R.D. 396.

On balance, the Settlement Agreement apabe the product aerious, informed, non-
collusive negotiations. This factor thusigles in favor of preliminary approval.

2. ObviousDeficiencies

The Court must next consider “whether thare obvious deficienci@s the Settlement
Agreement.” See Harrig2011 WL 1627973, at *8. The Court no®eth deficiencies during the
two preliminary approval hearingsd is satisfied that they halieen sufficiently addressed to
permit preliminary approval.

3. Lack of Preferential Treatment

The Court must next examine whether $attlement Agreement “provides preferential
treatment to any class membefee Villegas2012 WL 5878390, at *7. Under the Settlement
Agreement, each class member may claim theirgteoshare of the Net Settlement Amount bas
on the number of workweeks worked during tresslperiod less any applicable tax withholding
for the one-third of the individual Class Settlement Payments classified as wages. (Dkt. No.
Ex. A at 1 49.) The Settlement Agreement furghrevides that the named Plaintiffs will also
receive a $2,000 sdce award. Id. at T 54.)

At oral argument the Court questioned Riiéfis regarding the proposed allocation plan
treating employees who were commissioned-timdysame as employees who received a salary
plus commission. Plaintiffs gafactorily explained the reasmg behind the equal treatment.

“Incentiveawardsare fairly typical in class action case®bdriguez v. W. Publ’g Corp.
563 F.3d 948, 958 (9th Cir. 2009) (distinguishing inceram@rdsfrom incentiveagreementsthe
latter of which are “entered into as part of thiéial retention of counséland “put class counsel
and the contracting class representatives imndlict position from day one”). Incentive awards
“are intended to compensate clagzresentatives for work done on behalf of the class, to make

for financial or reputation risk undertaken innging the action, and, sometimes to recognize th
15
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willingness to act as a private attorney generhl."at 958-59. Although incentive awards are
viewed more favorably than incentive agreesns, excessive awards “may put the class
representative in a conflict withe class and present a consideraanger of individuals bringing
cases as class actions principatlyncrease their own leveragedtiain a remunerative settlement
for themselves and then trading on thaelage in the coursef negotiations.”ld. at 960 (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted).

Plaintiffs’ motion asserts that the service aigaare justified because the named Plaintiff$
“assisted Plaintiffs’ counsel with investigationtbe claims,” and “risked being responsible for
Defendant’s costs if the case was lost and hatiag future employment prospects damaged.”
(Dkt. No. 48 at 29.) Although Plaintiffs submit nedliarations or other ewthce attesting to the
quality or scope of the named Plaintiffs’ repentative service, the amount requested is
comparable to amounts awardeddoyrts in this Circuit.See, e.g., In re Mego Fin. Corp. Sec.
Litig., 213 F.3d 454, 463 (9th Cir. 2000) (approvetg000 to two plaintiff representatives of
5,400 potential class members in $1.75 million settlem&hign v. RGIS Inventory Specialists
No. C-06-05778 JCS, 2011 WL 1230826, at *37M{NCal. Apr. 1, 2011) (approving $5,000
incentive awards to each of 24med plaintiffs in $27,000,000 settlementppson v.
Hanesbrands, IncNo. CV-08-0844 EDL, 2009 WL 928133, at *10 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 3, 2009)
(approving $5,000 award to one member of 217-mermliass in $408,420 settlement). Further,
the total amount of requestedrvice awards ($8,000) repeass 0.36 percent of the Gross
Settlement Amount, which is well within thange that courts have found accepta§ee
Sandoval v. Tharaldson Emp. Mgmt., [iéo. EDCV 08-482-VAP (OPx), 2010 WL 2486346, at
*10 (C.D. Cal. June 15, 2010) (collecting cases).

Accordingly, at this stage, there is indication that the service award constitutes
“preferential treatment” that would defeat jprenary approval. The motion for final approval
shall include evidence tapport the requested awards.

4, Range of Possible Approval
In determining whether the Settlement égment “falls within the range of possible

approval,” the Court must focus on “substantivenfass and adequacy” and “consider [P]laintiffg
16
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expected recovery balanced against the value of the settlement &é&er.Tablewarel84 F.
Supp. 2d at 1080. “[I]t is well-settled law thgpr@posed settlement may be acceptable even
though it amounts only to a fraction thie potential recovery thatight be available to class
members at trial."Nat'l Rural Telecomms. Coop. v. DIRECTV, |21 F.R.D. 523, 527 (C.D.
Cal. 2004).

Here, Ms. Villanueva attests to the pastiespective positionsn “their exposure and
risks on each claim.” SeeDkt. No. 48-2 at { 13.) The declaration addresses the Meal Claim
(estimated exposure between $1 million and $§bam), Rest Claim (between $1 million and $5
million), Unpaid Wage Claim for Alleged Misdaification ($1 million), Overtime Off the Clock
Work Claim ($750,000), Reimbursement Clgimileage: $2 million; cell phone: $150,000 -
$300,000), and Fraud Claims ($3 million), and dsses the methodology used to determine the
estimated amount of exposure for eadld. &t 1 13(a)(i)-(vi).) MsVillanueva attests that
“[b]ased on the claim breakdownsakitiffs estimated the total expare to be at least $9 Million
exclusive of interest andgliretionary penalties.”ld. at § 13(a)(vii).) Further, “[t]he Parties
agree that the global exposwadue based on discovery to dadetween $9 Million and $11
Million dollars.” (Id. at 7 15.)

The parties assert that the proposed GrogkeSent Amount of $2.fnillion constitutes a
20% recovery of the high-end estimate of tptaential damages and that the proposed Net
Settlement Amount from which class meenbwill be paid (approximately $1,417,400.00)
constitutes a 13% recovery of the high-entiheegte, for an approximate payout of $3,300.00 per
class member (based on Plaintiffs’ estimata plitative class size 429) on a non-reversionary
basis. The Gross Settlemérhount, however, includes nea®$5,000 of Defendant’s share of
payroll taxes. This amount should be deducted from the Gross Settlement Amount because
to Defendant’s separate obligation to the &tatd Federal governments, not to its alleged
obligation to its employees. The Gr&sttlement Amount is therefore $2,135,000--
approximately 19.4% of the high-eedtimate of potential damages.

Ms. Villanueva’s declaration discusses Defendant’s specific arguments and potential

defenses regarding the meal claims, rest claims, unpaid wage claims, reimbursement claims
17
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fraud claims. $eeDkt. No. 48-2 at  13(b)f(v).) Defendant denies liability on every claim and
presented argument and evidence during settiemegotiations that Plaintiffs acknowledge
“would present an uphill like at class certificain and at trial.” Id. at  13(b)(iii) (discussing

defenses to unpaid wage claims for allegestciassification).) According to Ms. Villanueva,

Defendant also argued that eveRI&intiffs were to succeed on the merits as to some claims, any

exposure “would be minimal” or “must be significantly discountedd: &t  13(i)-(ii) (discussing
meal and rest claims).) The Court is persudabaticontinued litigatiomather than settlement
presents risks to Plaintiffs regardiagy recovery, much less recayeof less than the high-end
estimate.

In sum, the risks and costs of continudiddition at least balance the benefit of the
estimated payout to class members, warrantiefrpinary approval and comment from the class
members.

-

Accordingly, consideration of the fairndsstors warrants preliminary approval of the
Settlement Agreement. The proposed settlermppéears fair, adequateasonable, and in the
best interests of the class members giheruncertainty of@ntinued litigation.

B. Class Notice Plan

For any class certified under Rule 23(b)(3), class members must be afforded “the bes
notice that is practicable undie circumstances, including imtiual notice to all members who
can be identified through reasonalkelfffort.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(@). Such notice must clearly

state the following:

(i) the nature of the action;
(i) the definition of the class certified;
(i) the class claims, issues, or defenses;

(iv) that a class member may erd@rappearance through an attorney
if the member so desires;

(v) that the court will exclude from the class any member who
requests exclusion;

(vi) the time and manner for requesting exclusion; and
18
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(vii) the binding effect of a alss judgment on members under Rule
23(c)(3).

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(2)(B). “Notice is satisfawt if it generally describes the terms of the
settlement in sufficient detail to alert thoseéhnadverse viewpoints iavestigate and to come
forward and be heard.Churchill, 361 F.3d at 575 (internal quotatimarks and citation omitted).

The notice requirements under Rule 23(gB2 are met. The Notice describes the
allegations and claims in plain langudfeégfines a class member, includes contact information
for both Plaintiffs’ and Defendantsounsel and the SettlementrAchistrator, and summarizes the
settlement amount and its distrilmut. The Notice further describdse options available to class
members, including instructions for opting outlod settlement and filing an objection. It also
informs class members that receiving a settleraesaird will release certaiclaims against certain
parties and defines both “Released Claims”‘&&leased Parties.” The Notice informs class
members that they may appear at the final fasreearing in person through an attorney.Sge
generallyDkt. No. 52 at 1-8.) Finally, it diregttlass members to a website with more
information, including the Settleent documents and pleadings.

The notice plan itself is also adequateithid 20 days of preliminary approval Defendant
will provide the Settlement Administrator withetltlass members’ last known addresses. The
Settlement Administrator must then mail thetice to class memb&within 40 days of
preliminary approval. Prior to mailing the Notitkee settlement administrator will run the list of
class members through the “United States Postalc®és National Change of Address database
and if any Notices are returned as undelivieraihe Settlement Administrator will use skip-
tracing to attempt to identify a valid addressl ae-mail the Notice. (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at 1
73, 75.) After mailing the Notice, the SettlemAaiministrator will provide weekly reports to
both Plaintiffs’ and Defendant’s counsel ideyitig class members “whose mailings have been
returned as undeliverable” and those “who hswemitted Exclusion Requests or Notices of

Objection.” (d. at 1 92.) Class members have 60 dey® the mailing of the Notice to either

19 The Notice’s description of the allegatioriaiims itemizes eight allegations that roughly
encompass the 15 claims brought in the F&xeept for the PAGA and UCL claims, which are
otherwise noted in the Notice’s list of sts that Defendantlagedly violated. $eeDkt. No. 52
at212)
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opt out of the Settlement Agreent@n file a notice of objection.Id. at 1 80, 88.)
The Notice, however, still does not adequagelyise the Class of hoivcan review Class
Counsel’s written request for attorneys’ fees ansts. Accordingly, ahe end of Section 18 of

the Notice the following pagraph shall be added:

Class counsel will apply in writing to the Court on or before
November 4, 2019or their requested attorneys’ fees and costs. Their
application will be available on the Settlement website:
www.NorthstarSettlement.com withione day of its filing or upon
request to Class Counsel. You nabject to the attorneys’ fees and
costs sought no later thgB0 days after Notice is mailed]in
accordance with Section 22 of this Notice.

C. Attorneys’ Feeg!

Rule 23(h) provides for an award of attorsifiges and costs i certified class action
where it is “authorized by law or by the partiagreement.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(h). However,
“courts have an independent olaligpn to ensure that the awlafike the settlement itself, is
reasonable, even if the parties halready agreed to an amounBluetooth 654 F.3d at 941see
also Staton327 F.3d at 963 (“[A] district court must efully assess the reasonableness of a feg
amount spelled out in a class action settleragnéement.”). Where a settlement produces a
common fund for the benefit of the entire clas®yrts have discretion to employ either the
lodestar method or the percentage-of-recoverthateto determine whethére requested fees are
reasonableln re Mercury Interactive CorgSec. Litig, 618 F.3d 988, 992 (9th Cir. 2010). The
Ninth Circuit has established a benchmark op2Ecent of the common fund for attorneys’ fees
calculations under the latter methd8ee Powers v. EichgB29 F.3d 1249, 1256 (9th Cir. 2000)
(“We have . . . established twertye percent of the recovery as a ‘benchmark’ for attorneys’ fe
calculations under the percentagferecovery approach.”). Iough “[a] district court may
depart from the benchmark . . ., it must be madar by the district cothow it arrives at the
figure ultimately awarded.’ld. at 1256-57.

“The lodestar figure is calculated by mulyiimg the number of hours the prevailing party

11 The Settlement Agreement providaat “[i]f the Court awards less than the amount requeste
for the Class Counsel’s attorneys’ fees and exg®ribe remainder will become part of the [Net
Settlement Amount]” paid to class members. (Dkt. No. 48-2, Ex. A at { 62.)
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reasonably expended on the litigation (as supgdiyeadequate documentation) by a reasonabilg
hourly rate for the region and ftive experience of the lawyerld. at 941. The resulting figure
may be adjusted upward or downward to accounsdoeral factors, “iading the quality of
representation, the benefit obtadrfer the class, the complexignd novelty of the issues
presented, and the risk of nonpaymentl’ at 941-42 (internal quation marks and citation
omitted). The party requesting fees bears thiddyu“of submitting billing records to establish
that the number of hoursrigquested are reasonablédnzalez v. City of Maywopd29 F.3d
1196, 1202 (9th Cir. 2013), as well as “produc]isatisfactory evideneein addition to the
attorneys’ own affidavits—that the requestetsaare in line wittthose prevailing in the
community for similar services by lawyersrebisonably comparable skill, experience and
reputation,"Camancho v. Bridgeport Fin., In&623 F.3d 973, 980 (9th Cir. 2008) (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted). The Ninth Circuit recommends that whether the lodes
percentage-of-recovery method is used, the distaurt perform a cross-check using the other
method to confirm the reasonableness of the fee (e.qg., if the percentage-of-recovery method
applied, a cross-check with the lodestathod will reveal if the amount requested is
unreasonable in light of tHeours reasonably expende®ee idat 944-45.

As previously discussed, the Settlem&gteement provides for a maximum award of
$736,200 in attorneys’ fees (one-third of thmss Settlement Amount). Defendant does not

oppose that award. Plaintiffs’ counsel asstrat the amount is reasonable based on:

the award achieved on behalf of the class, the complexities of the
factual and legal issues involved with Defendant's commission
system and varying categories otguaially exempt and non exempt
employees, and the time, skill, aexperience required to analyze and
navigate these issues effectivaelgd successfully for Plaintiffs and
the class.

(Dkt. No. 48 at 30.) That is just argument, hoemewot evidence. In pport of an increase
above the 25 percent benchmark, Plaintiffsst submit evidence—declarations, billing
summaries, etc.— from which the Court could deteenan appropriate lod&ar figure to cross-
check the amount requesteflee Power229 F.3d at 1256-57 (noting tH@] district court may

depart from the benchmark,” but “it must be matr by the district agt how it arrives at the
21
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figure ultimately awarded”).

Accordingly, Plaintiffs shall submit a motionrfattorneys’ fees including declarations ang
detailed billing records so that the Court matedmine an appropriate lodestar figure, and to
allow class members the opportunityoigect to the requested fee€See In re Mercury Interactive
Corp, 618 F.3d at 995 (holding that class memberstrthave an adequate opportunity to oppos
class counsel’s fee motion”).

D. Costs

“There is no doubt that an attorney wha lseeated a common fund for the benefit of the
class is entitled to reimbunsent of reasonable litigatie@xpenses from that fundOntiveros v.
Zamorg 303 F.R.D. 356, 375 (E.D. Cal. 2014) (intdmaotation marks and citation omitted). Tq
that end, district courts in tharcuit regularly award litigatin costs and expenses in wage-and-
hour class actionsSee, e.gid.; Nwabueze v. AT&T IncNo. C 09-01529 SI, 2014 WL 324262,
at *2 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 29, 2014)aGarde v. Support.com, IndNo. C 12-0609, 2013 WL 1283325,
at *13 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 26, 2013). Here, thati&enent Agreement provides that Plaintiffs’
counsel may obtain up to $20,000 in costs.

Plaintiffs’ counsel is instructed to subrait itemized sheet summarizing costs with its
motion for attorneys’ fees so that the Court datermine whether thegosts are reasonable
litigation expenses incurred ftre benefit of the class.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the CGIRANTS Plaintiffs’ motion for preliminary
approval of the class action settlement as follows:

1. Na’il Benjamin and Allyssa Villanwa of Benjamin Law Group, P.C. are

appointedasClassCounsefor the Settlement Class.

2. Notice shall be provided in accordamath the notice plan and this Order.

3. On or before November 4, 2019, Class Counsel shall file a motion seeking

approvabf attorney’ fees and costs.

4. The parties shall appear before @airt for a final approval hearing on February

20, 2020 at 9:00 a.m. in Courtroom F, 450 Golden Gate Ave., San Francisco,
22
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California.

5. Class Counsel shall file a noticed ratfor final approval of settlement no later
than 35 days before the final approveahng. The motion shall include a copy of
the Notice ultimately sent to the class along with the other information, as

available, suggested by the Northern isof California Procedural Guidance for

ne
ﬂ’JAdﬂ')UELINE SCOTT CORL

United States Magistrate Judge

ClassAction Settlements.
ITIS SO ORDERED.
Dated: October 8, 2019
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